IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 19-1571 JOHN HRBEK, Appellant, v. STATE OF IOWA, Appellee. ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY HONORABLE KATHLEEN KILNOSKI, JUDGE APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

PHILIP B. MEARS

Mears Law Office 209 East Washington Street Paul-Helen Building, Suite 203 Iowa City, Iowa 52240

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

On August 28, 2020, the undersigned certifies that a true copy of the foregoing instrument was served upon the Defendant-Appellant by placing one copy thereof in the United States mail, proper postage attached, addressed to:

John Hrbek #0104465 Anamosa State Penitentiary 406 North High Street Anamosa, IA 52205

Statement of the Issues Presented for Review		
Routing Statement		
Nature of the case		
Course of proceeding15		
Statement of facts		
Discussion of statute, Senate File 589		
Specific portions of Senate file relating to pro se filings		
Summary of argument		
ARGUMENT		
I		
SENATE FILE 589 SHOULD NOT RESTRICT THE RIGHT OF JOHN HRBEK TO FILE PLEADINGS DIRECTLY IN A POST CONVICTION ALREADY FILED ON JULY 1, 2019, DESPITE THE FACT THAT HE HAS APPOINTED COUNSEL.		
Standard of Review		
Preservation of error		
A. The right created by Leonard, Gamble, and Jones23		

Leonard24
Gamble27
Jones30
Instances where this right has been successful
Sometimes there is just bad counsel
What is the basis for this right?
B. How post conviction cases would work if Section 822.3A applied34
C. There is a Constitutional Right to Counsel in a postconviction case35
D. As a matter of statutory construction new Section 822.3A should not apply
retroactively to existing postconviction cases, such as Hrbek's41
E. General rules regarding retroactivity of legislation
F. Supreme Court Case regarding Senate File 589
G. Other appellate cases regarding the right to file Pro Se briefs on appeal49
H. Application of these principles and cases to Hrbek51
II
APPLICATION OF 822.3A TO POSTCONVICTION CASES WOULD
VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTION53
Standard of Review
Preservation of error

A. When the legislature overturned the right to make pro se filings when
represented by counsel, it violated the principle of separation of powers, which
includes the inherent power of the court
B. Legislation limiting pro se filings when represented by counsel violates the right
of access to the Courts or some principle of due process
C. Legislation limiting pro se filings violates the right to counsel in a post-
conviction60
Conclusion61
Request for Oral Argument63
Certificate of Cost64
Certificate of Compliance

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Federal

<u>Faretta v. California</u> , 422 U.S. 806,, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2533–34, 45 L.Ed.2d 562, 572–
73 (1975)
Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987)35
Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S. Ct. 2546, 115 L. Ed. 2d 640
(1991)35, 36, 37
Martinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. 1, 132 S.Ct. 1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012) 37-41,61
Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 97 S.Ct. 1491, 52 L.Ed.2d 72 (1977)59
<u>Lewis v. Casey</u> , 518 U.S. 343, 116 S.Ct. 2174, 135 L.Ed.2d 606 (1996)59
State
State Leonard v. State 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)
<u>Leonard v. State</u> 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)
<u>Leonard v. State</u> 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)
Leonard v. State 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)
Leonard v. State 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)
Leonard v. State 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)

Hrbek v. State, 13-1619, 2015 WL 6087572 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)
<u>State v. Randle</u> , 603 N.W. 2d 91, 92 (Iowa 1999)2
<u>Lewis v. Iowa Dist. Ct.</u> , 555 N.W.2d 216, 218 (Iowa 1996)2
<u>State v. Robinson</u> , 859 N.W.2d 464 (Iowa 2015)3
<u>Lado v State</u> , 804 N.W. 2d 248, 250 (Iowa 2011)31, 30
Wise v. State, 708 N.W.2d 66, 69 (Iowa 2006)
<u>Fuhrmann v. State</u> , 433 N.W.2d 720, 722 (Iowa 1988)3
<u>Patchette v State</u> , 374 N.W. 2d 397, 398 (Iowa 1985)3
<u>Allison v. State</u> 914 N.W.2d. 866 (Iowa 2018)36, 38, 39, 6
<u>State v. Mathes</u> , No. 17-19093
State v. Jones, No. 04-0021, 2006 WL 334046 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)
<u>State v. Harrison</u> , 914 N.W.2d 178, 205 (Iowa 2018)
<u>Frideres v Schiltz</u> , 540 N.W. 2d 261, 264-65 (Iowa 1995)
<u>State Ex Rel Buechler v. Vin Sand</u> 318 N.W.2d. 208,210 (Iowa 1982)43
State ex rel Turner v. Limbrecht, 246 N.W. 2d 330, 332 (Iowa 1976) 43, 44
<u>Schuler v. Rodberg</u> 516 N.W.2d. 902,904 (Iowa 1994)4
<u>State v. Stoen</u> 596 N.W.2d. 504,508 (Iowa 1999)4
Baldwin v. City of Waterloo, 372 N.W.2d. 486, 491 (Iowa 1985)
State v. Soppe, 374 N.W.2d. 649, 652-53 (Iowa 1985)

Boomhower v. Cerro Gordo County Board of Adjustment, 163 N.W.2d. 75,76	
(Iowa 1968)45	
Giles v. State 511 N.W.2d. 622,625 (Iowa 1994)	
Emmet County State Bank v. Reutter, 439 N.W.2d 651, 654 (Iowa 1989)45	
Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil	
<u>Co</u> ., 606 N.W.2d 370, 375 (Iowa, 2000)46	
State v. Scheckel, 2020 WL 1542313, at *3 (Iowa App., April 1, 2020)49, 50	
<u>Franklin v. Bonner</u> , 207 N.W. 778, 779 (Iowa 1926)55	
<u>Varnum v. Brien</u> , 763 N.W.2d 862, 875-76 (Iowa 2009)55	
Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Serv., 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa	
2002)55	
<u>State v. Phillips</u> , 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)55	
Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State, 915 N.W.2d 206,	
212 (Iowa 2018)56	
<u>State v. Ambrose</u> , 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)56	
<u>State v. Hoegh</u> , 632 N.W.2d 885 (Iowa 2001)	
<u>In re the Marriage of Thatcher</u> , 864 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2015)57, 58	
STATE STATUTES	
Senate File 589	

822.3B	16, 17, 20	
814.6A	19-21, 49	
822.3A19, 20, 34, 35, 41, 43,	45, 46, 52-54, 59-61	
822.2	20	
663A.5	26	
822.6	27, 29, 33	
Rule 6.901(2)	28, 49, 50	
822.7	29	
Rule of Civil Procedure 1.413 (1)	29	
28 USC, 2254	36	
Section 4.5	41-43	
Section 4.13(1)(b)	42, 43, 48	
Const. art. V, § 1	55	
Const. art. V, § 4	55	
Const. art. V, § 6	55	
U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Iowa Const. art. I,§ 10	56	
OTHER AUTHORITIES		
Weir v. State, 20-0051	50	

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I

SENATE FILE 589 SHOULD NOT RESTRICT THE RIGHT OF JOHN HRBEK TO FILE PLEADINGS DIRECTLY IN A POST CONVICTION ALREADY FILED ON JULY 1, 2019, DESPITE THE FACT THAT HE HAS APPOINTED COUNSEL.

State v. Randle, 603 N.W. 2d 91,92 (Iowa 1999)

Leonard v. State 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)

Gamble v. State 723 N.W.2d. 443 (Iowa 2006)

Jones v State, 731 N.W. 2d 388 (Iowa 2007)

Hrbek v. State, 13-1619, 2015 WL 6087572 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

Lewis v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 555 N.W.2d 216, 218 (Iowa 1996)

<u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 819–20, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 2533–34, 45 L.Ed.2d 562, 572–73 (1975)

State v. Mathes, No. 17-1909

State v. Jones, No. 04-0021, 2006 WL 334046 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)

State v. Robinson, 859 N.W.2d 464 (Iowa 2015), 487-92

<u>Pennsylvania v. Finley</u>, 481 U.S. 551, 555, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 1993, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987)

Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640 (1991)

Wise v. State, 708 N.W.2d 66, 69 (Iowa 2006)

Fuhrmann v. State, 433 N.W.2d 720, 722 (Iowa 1988)

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d. 866 (Iowa 2018)

The State Ex Rel Buechler v. Vin Sand 318 N.W.2d. 208, 210 (Iowa 1982)

Schuler v. Rodberg 516 N.W.2d. 902, 904 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Stoen 596 N.W.2d. 504,508 (Iowa 1999)

Baldwin v. City of Waterloo, 372 N.W.2d. 486, 491 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Soppe, 374 N.W.2d. 649, 652-53 (Iowa 1985)

<u>Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil</u> Co., 606 N.W.2d 370, 375 (Iowa,2000)

State v. Macke, 933 N.W. 2d 226 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Scheckel, 2020 WL 1542313, at *3 (Iowa App., April 1, 2020)

<u>Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Serv.</u>, 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)

<u>Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State</u>, 915 N.W.2d 206, 212 (Iowa 2018)

Franklin v. Bonner, 207 N.W. 778, 779 (Iowa 1926)

re Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576, 577 (Iowa 1988)

Laird Brothers v. Dickerson, 40 Iowa 665, 670 (1875)

Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242, 244-45 (Iowa 1997)

<u>In re Durant Comm. Sch. Dist.</u>, 106 N.W.2d 670, 676 (Iowa 1960)

Wissenberg v. Bradley, 229 N.W. 205, 209 33 (Iowa 1929)

McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687-88 (1894)

The Right to Appeal, 91 N.C. L. Rev. 1219, 1221 (2013)

Rethinking the Constitutional Right to an Appeal, 39 UCLA L. Rev. 503 (1992)

Jones v.Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 756 n. 1 (1983)

<u>Varnum v. Brien</u>, 763 N.W.2d 862, 875-76 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

Boomhower v. Cerro Gordo County Board of Adjustment, 163 N.W.2d. 75,76 (Iowa 1968)

Giles v. State 511 N.W.2d. 622,625 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d.447 (Iowa 2019)

Patchette v State, 374 N.W. 2d 397, 398 (Iowa 1985)

Lado v State, 804 N.W. 2d 248, 250 (Iowa 2011)

Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012)

Allison v. State, 914 N.W. 2d 866 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Harrison, 914 N.W.2d 178, 205 (Iowa 2018)

Frideres v Schiltz, 540 N.W. 2d 261, 264-65 (Iowa 1995)

First Nat'l Bank v. Diers, 430 N.W.2d 412, 414 (Iowa 1988)

<u>Frideres v. Schiltz</u>, 540 N.W.2d 261, 264–65 (Iowa,1995)

State v. Stoen 596 N.W.2d. 504,508 (Iowa 1999)

II

APPLICATION OF 822.3A TO POSTCONVICTION CASES WOULD VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTION

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 2010)

Franklin v. Bonner, 207 N.W. 778, 779 (Iowa 1926)

<u>Varnum v. Brien</u>, 763 N.W.2d 862, 875-76 (Iowa 2009)

Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Serv., 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)

<u>Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State</u>, 915 N.W.2d 206, 212 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Hoegh, 632 N.W.2d 885 (Iowa 2001)

In re the Marriage of Thatcher, 864 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2015)

Bounds v. Smith 430 U.S. 817, 822, 97 S.Ct. 1491, 52 L.Ed.2d 72 (1977)

Lewis v. Casey 518 U.S. 343, 116 S.Ct. 2174, 135 L.Ed.2d 606 (1996)

<u>Leonard v. State</u> 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990)

Gamble v. State 723 N.W.2d. 443 (Iowa 2006)

Jones v State,731 N.W. 2d 388 (Iowa 2007)

Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012)

Allison v. State, 914 N.W. 2d 866 (Iowa 2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case, which presents an issue of first impression. It also presents an issue of significant importance to inmate litigants throughout the state. See Rule 6.1101(2)(c)

In the last thirty years, the Iowa Supreme Court has recognized the right of inmate litigants to file their own pleadings in postconviction cases where they have court appointed council. See <u>Leonard v. State</u> 461 N.W.2d. 465 (Iowa 1990), <u>Gamble v. State</u> 723 N.W.2d. 443 (Iowa 2006), and <u>Jones v State</u>,731 N.W. 2d 388 (Iowa 2007)

In 2019, the Iowa legislature passed Senate File 589, the Omnibus Crime Bill. The Bill purports to eliminate the right conferred by those cases to file pleadings, even when represented by counsel.

The District Court applied that provision to bar John Hrbek from filing documents in his ongoing postconviction. He sought appellate review, which has been granted. This court has granted a stay of the District Court Order pending the outcome of this appeal.

Senate File 589 placed also limits on appellate jurisdiction. The Iowa Supreme Court addressed the retroactivity of those provisions in <u>State v. Macke</u>, 933 N.W. 2d 226 (Iowa 2019). The <u>Macke</u> case does not particularly address the questions presented in this case.

This case addresses the legality of the provision barring inmate pro se pleadings while represented by counsel.

Issues that are included in this case are (1) retroactivity of the new provision; (2) interference with the right to counsel in a post conviction; and (3) whether the statute infringes on the inherent power of the courts to regulate participants in front of the court, including both counsel and applicants in postconviction cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

This is a Discretionary Review Proceeding brought by John Hrbek, a Post Conviction Applicant, seeking review of an Order of the District Court in his post conviction dated August 25, 2019. In that order, Judge Kilnowski barred Hrbek, who was represented by counsel, from filing any further documents in his Post Conviction case. The only thing that he was permitted to file was a Motion to Relieve Counsel in order to represent himself.

Hrbek filed an Application for Discretionary Review Pro Se on September 20, 2019. On October 16, 2019, the Iowa Supreme Court granted that Application. The Court granted a Stay of the lower court order.

Course of Proceeding:

John Hrbek was convicted of two counts of first degree murder in 1981 in Pottawattamie County. The conviction was mostly affirmed on direct appeal in State v. Hrbek 336 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 1983). There was a remand on one issue, which was then dealt with.

Hrbek filed the present post-conviction on June 30, 1987. The case proceeded with court-appointed counsel for ten years and then apparently went dormant. The subsequent history was discussed by the Iowa Court of Appeals in Hrbek v. State, 13-1619, 2015 WL 6087572 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015).

Essentially, the case had been dismissed under rule 1.944 in January 2005.

This was apparently after the Pottawattamie County Clerk utilized that rule for the first time in the almost twenty years after the case had been filed.

In 2013, after finally learning about the dismissal, Hrbek filed a Motion to rescind the dismissal and reinstate the post-conviction. The District Court ruled it could not do that. Hrbek appealed. The Iowa Court of Appeals on October 14, 2015 reinstated the post conviction. Hrbek v. State, 13-1619, 2015 WL 6087572 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015).

Since 2015, the case had been active. Counsel had been appointed for Hrbek.

Throughout this time, Hrbek had been an active participant in his post-conviction. On July 11, 2019, Counsel for the State filed a document entitled "Notice Re: Pro se Filings by Applicant Currently Represented by Counsel" (App. 7). In that Notice, the Assistant County Attorney set forth newly enacted Code section 822.3B. That is the provision in the omnibus crime bill that purports to eliminate the right to file pro se documents if the person is represented by counsel.

On July 24, 2019, Hrbek filed a pro se Resistance to the suggestion that he not be allowed to file matters pro se (App. 9). On August 25, 2019, without having held a hearing, Judge Kilnoski entered an order regarding several matters about the post-conviction. The Court addressed the newly enacted Code section 822.3B. Here is what the Court said:

The Court has also considered the State's request that the Court advise the Applicant of newly enacted Iowa Code 822.3B and restrict the Applicant from filing any pro se documents, applications, motions, and briefs while he is represented by counsel.

The Court has reviewed Hrbek's resistance to the State's application The Court concludes that Applicant Hrbek should forward any documents, applications, motions, briefs, etcetera to his post-conviction counsel for counsel's review and filing. Applicant Hrbek may file a pro se motion to relieve counsel and to represent himself. (Ruling p.2, App. 25)

At that point, Hrbek filed an application for discretionary review, along with a Motion to appoint appellate counsel. He also filed a Motion to stay all deadlines, pending resolution of the issue.

The Supreme Court granted the application for discretionary review. (App. 27).

It should be noted that during this same time period, appointed counsel Clemens Erdahl died. On October 8, 2019, the Court appointed local attorney Christopher Roth to represent Hrbek in Erdahl's place.

As of August 2020, a post-conviction hearing has been scheduled for February 13, 2020. (See order dated April 4, 2019. App. 6).

It is not clear what is going on in with the post-conviction at this moment.

The Supreme Court stayed the imposition of the new statute. With the stay being granted, the case should have gone forward at the district court level. Apparently, with the change in counsel, the hearing was not held.

As of the date of this filing, no hearing is scheduled.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Discussion of facts

There are not many facts needed for this appeal. Those few facts would include the following:

- 1) John Hrbek is serving a life sentence for a 1981 conviction from Pottawattamie County.
- 2) He has a post-conviction pending that was timely filed, where as of 2019 he had appointed counsel.
- 3) John Hrbek has been an active participant in his post conviction. He has filed motions, briefs, and other pleadings for years.
- 4) He filed the necessary and appropriate paperwork to get his entire postconviction reinstated five years ago. He also filed the application for discretionary review before this Court, which resulted in this appeal.
- 5) A number of Hrbek's filings have been found to be meritorious. On August 21, 2019 at his pro se request, he was given a temporary restraining order with regard to the Department of Corrections and his personal copy of files. (App. 19) On August 25, 2019, he was granted permission to hire an expert witness with regard to one of the issues in the post-conviction (App. 24)

6) The legislature passed Senate File 589 in the spring of 2019. It went into effect on July 1, 2019. Provision at issue for this appeal is codified at new Section 822.3A.

Discussion of statute, Senate File 589 ('SF 589')

Senate File 589, which was called the Omnibus Crime Bill, was enacted in the Spring of 2019. There were different Divisions of the bill.

Division I contained a new Expungement Provision. Certain old misdemeanor convictions can now be expunged.

Division II contained changes to the Robbery and theft Code sections.

Division III and IV had to do with several other specific crimes.

Division V had to do with criminal proceedings. This division contained the Sections that dealt with the jurisdictional questions. Section 31 (Ineffective counsel on appeal); Section 33 (Guilty plea appeals). The retroactive application of these provisions was addressed by <u>State v. Macke</u>, 933 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2019).

Division V included other more substantive Sections. General Verdicts (Section 32); Statutes of limitations for post convictions (Section 34).

Division V also included the Sections regarding Pro Se filings.

Section 30 created a new section 814.6A. This provision prohibited Pro Se filings by criminal defendants. This section may be applicable to defendants on appeal.

Section 35 created new Section 822.3B. That section addressed Pro Se filings by postconviction Applicants who are represented by counsel.

Division VI had specifically to do with the crime of Arson.

Division VII addressed the Statute of Limitations for certain sexual offenses.

Specific portions relating to pro se filings

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