IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19–1571

JOHN LEE HRBEK,
Applicant-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,
Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE KATHLEEN A. KILNOSKI, JUDGE

APPELLEE’S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

MATTHEW D. WILBER
Pottawattamie County Attorney

PATRICK A. SONDAG
Assistant Pottawattamie County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Section 822.3A is different from most other provisions enacted or amended by S.F. 589. It is procedural, and it does not limit or abridge any existing remedy. The PCR court was correct that it applies in this action.**

Preservation of Error

Hrbek argued that section 822.3A was limited to prospective application and that it did not apply in his already-pending action. *See* Resistance to Notice (7/24/19) at 2–4; App. 10–12. The PCR court considered that resistance and necessarily rejected Hrbek’s arguments, because it directed Hrbek to comply with section 822.3A. *See* Order (8/25/19) at 2; App. 25. Thus, error is preserved. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Standard of Review

This challenge presents “a question of statutory interpretation.” *See State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 230–31 (Iowa 2019).

Merits

This Court has determined that some provisions of S.F. 589—specifically, those limiting review of ineffective-assistance claims on direct appeal and availability of direct appeals from convictions that are entered after guilty pleas—are not retroactively applied in appeals from convictions that were entered before the law’s effective date. *See*

Macke, 933 N.W.2d at 230–36 (considering potential retroactivity of 2019 Iowa Acts ch. 140, § 28, *codified at* Iowa Code § 814.6(1) (2020) and 2019 Iowa Acts ch. 140, § 31, *codified at* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020)); *accord State v. Majors*, 940 N.W.2d 372, 386 n.1 (Iowa 2020) (noting that Majors could raise ineffective-assistance claims on direct appeal despite amendment to section 814.7 because “he did have such a right at the time his judgment and sentence was issued” before July 1, 2019).

But that is specific to appeals. “Statutes controlling appeals are those that were in effect at the time judgment or order appealed from was rendered.” *See James v. State*, 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991) (quoting *Ontjes v. McNider*, 275 N.W. 328, 330 (Iowa 1937)); *accord Giles v. State*, 511 N.W.2d 622, 624 (Iowa 1994). Prior determinations that *those* parts of S.F. 589 are non-retroactive should not affect the applicability of *this* provision. “[W]hen only part of an enactment is remedial or procedural, effect is ordinarily given to that part.” *See Schuler v. Rodberg*, 516 N.W.2d 902, 904 (Iowa 1994) (quoting *State ex rel. Buechler v. Vinsand*, 318 N.W.2d 208, 210 (Iowa 1982)).

Section 822.3A is also different from jurisdiction-stripping statutes, which cannot “deprive the court of jurisdiction” by retroactive application “after the commencement of an action” in a district court.

See Frink v. Clark, 285 N.W. 681, 684 (Iowa 1939). And it is different from changes to the applicable statute of limitations that would have the effect of extinguishing actions that were timely when filed. *See, e.g., Brewer v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Pottawattamie Cnty.*, 395 N.W.2d 841, 842–43 (Iowa 1986) (“[W]e are reluctant to abate pending actions which were timely when filed by retroactive application of statutory changes in the statute of limitations.”).

Section 822.3A does not control outcomes of litigation, and it does not bar any particular claim, defense, or remedy. Rather, it is “procedural legislation” that “applies to all actions—those that have accrued or are pending and future actions.” *See Dolezal v. Bockes*, 602 N.W.2d 348, 351 (Iowa 1999). Procedural legislation generally affects how courts operate and how parties interact with the court.

Practice and procedure include the mode of proceeding and the formal steps by which a legal right is enforced. Those words comprehend writs, summonses and other methods of notice to parties as well as pleadings, rules of evidence and costs. Practice and procedure indicate the forms for enforcing rights as distinguished from the law which creates, defines and protects rights.

Bascom v. Dist. Ct. of Cerro Gordo Cnty., 1 N.W.2d 220, 221–22 (Iowa 1941) (quoting *Duggan v. Ogden*, 180 N.E. 301, 302 (Mass. 1932)). Procedural changes generally apply to all cases, including

already-pending cases involving already-vested rights. *See id.* That distinguishes it from substantive legislation that “takes away or impairs vested rights acquired under existing laws, or creates a new obligation, imposes a new duty, or attaches a new disability in respect to transactions or considerations already past.” *See Smith v. Korf, Diehl, Clayton & Cleverley*, 302 N.W.2d 137, 138 (Iowa 1981) (quoting *Walker State Bank v. Chipokas*, 228 N.W.2d 49, 51 (Iowa 1975)).

“[W]hen a statute relates solely to a remedy or procedure, it is ordinarily applied both prospectively and retrospectively.” *See State ex rel. Leas in re O’Neal*, 303 N.W.2d 414, 419 (Iowa 1981). And this remains true “even in the absence of clear legislative intent.” *See Smith*, 302 N.W.2d at 138–39 (citing *Walker State Bank*, 228 N.W.2d at 51). Hrbek argues that, unless otherwise specified, section 4.5 creates a presumption of prospective application. *See App’s Br.* at 41–42 (citing Iowa Code § 4.5). However, that statute “is taken from section 14 of the Uniform Statutory Construction Act, which the drafters pointed out is not intended to apply to remedial or procedural statutes.” *See State ex rel. Buechler*, 318 N.W.2d at 209–10 (citing *Smith*, 302 N.W.2d at 138–39). Thus, “notwithstanding section 4.5,” Iowa courts will apply changes to procedural rules to *all* currently pending cases, including

“proceedings pending on the effective date of the enactment.” *See id.*; accord *Emmet County State Bank v. Reutter*, 439 N.W.2d 651, 654 (Iowa 1989) (citing *Schnebly v. St. Joseph Mercy Hospital*, 166 N.W.2d 780, 782 (Iowa 1969)) (explaining that legislature’s failure to specify prospective or retroactive application is not determinative).

Hrbek also seems to argue that he had a vested right to file any pro se filings that he wanted, because he was generally permitted to file his own filings throughout the previous pendency of the action. *See* Def’s Br. at 42–43 (quoting Iowa Code § 4.13(1)); Def’s Br. at 44 (citing *State v. Stoen*, 596 N.W.2d. 504, 508 (Iowa 1999)). But there is no such thing as “any vested right of an individual in any particular manner of procedure.” *See Bascom*, 1 N.W.2d at 221; accord *Dolezal*, 602 N.W.2d at 351. If there were, litigants would have vested rights to offer evidence that was admissible when an action commenced and was subsequently made inadmissible by rule or statute (or to exclude evidence that was inadmissible when the proceedings began, and was later made admissible). However, “a statutory rule of evidence applies to a proceeding tried subsequent to its effective date, even though the provision was nonexistent at the time the proceeding was commenced.” *See State ex rel. Leas*, 303 N.W.2d at 419; accord *Moffitt Building*

Material Co. v. U. S. Lumber and Supply Co., 124 N.W.2d 134, 136 (Iowa 1963); *Bingham v. Blunk*, 116 N.W.2d 447, 449 (Iowa 1962); *Wormley v. Hamburg*, 40 Iowa 22, 26 (1874). Even when this affects the admissibility of evidence that is outcome-determinative, there is no vested right to have the court apply outdated procedural rules:

To the extent section 675.41 affects the admissibility of blood test results [to establish paternity], it does not create or divest a substantive right but merely establishes a rule of evidence. Thus, at least to that extent it is applicable to proceedings that were pending on its effective date.

State ex rel. Buechler, 318 N.W.2d at 209–10. The alternative is that litigation would be governed by whatever procedural rules were in effect when proceedings began, and Hrbek’s PCR action would be governed by whatever rules of evidence and rules of civil procedure were in effect when he initiated the action in 1987. Iowa courts have never applied that approach to procedural rules, and for good reason: operating under a single set of current, up-to-date procedural rules promotes efficiency, consistency in rulings, and fairness to litigants.

Finally, Hrbek argues that section 822.3A does not satisfy the three-part test for retroactivity for remedial legislation. *See* App’s Br. at 45–47. But that test has no real applicability to legislation that changes procedural rules—it only applies to remedial legislation. *See*

Dolezal, 602 N.W.2d at 351–52 (finding amended rule was procedural and skipping three-part retroactivity test); *State ex rel. Buechler*, 318 N.W.2d at 209–10 (same); *State ex rel. Leas*, 303 N.W.2d at 419–20 (same); *Smith*, 302 N.W.2d at 138–39 (same).

It is theoretically possible to characterize section 822.3A as remedial because it “regulates conduct” of PCR applicants during PCR litigation “for the public good.” See *Iowa Comprehensive Petrol. Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d 370, 375 (Iowa 2000) (citing *McCracken v. Iowa Dep't of Human Serv.*, 595 N.W.2d 779, 784 (Iowa 1999) and *Hornby v. State*, 559 N.W.2d 23, 25 (Iowa 1997)). It may also be said that section 822.3A “remedies defects in the common law and in civil jurisprudence generally.” See *Bd. of Trs. of Mun. Fire & Police Ret. Sys. v. City of West Des Moines*, 587 N.W.2d 227, 231 (Iowa 1998). But any “remedy” or “public good” from section 822.3A is a result of how it streamlines *procedures* in a specific area of litigation in Iowa courts. Categorizing such a statute as remedial (rather than procedural) would effectively eliminate the separate category of procedural legislation that is *not* remedial. And the awkwardness of applying that three-part test to section 822.3A illustrates the need for separate categories to exist. Here is the test:

First, we look to the language of the new legislation; second, we consider the evil to be remedied; and third, we consider whether there was any previously existing statute governing or limiting the mischief which the new legislation was intended to remedy.

Shell Oil Co., 606 N.W.2d at 375 (quoting *Emmet County State Bank*, 439 N.W.2d at 654). Procedural rules generally tend to be written in present tense with conditional or universal applicability, so there is unlikely to be much guidance in the specific language used. However, section 822.3A is the rare exception—it states: “An applicant seeking relief under section 822.2 who is currently represented by counsel shall not file any pro se document, including an application, brief, reply brief, or motion, in any Iowa court.” See Iowa Code § 822.3A(1). That evinces legislative intent to apply to any PCR litigant who, on the effective date of the enactment, *is currently represented by counsel* in pending PCR litigation. For second item—“the evil to be remedied”—it is enough to note that pro se filings from represented PCR applicants are equally burdensome and unnecessary, whether the PCR action was filed before or after July 1, 2019. See *City of Waterloo v. Bainbridge*, 749 N.W.2d 245, 251 (Iowa 2008) (finding this item weighed in favor of retroactivity for remedial legislation regarding abandoned buildings because “[a] building abandoned before the effective date of the statute

creates the same unsafe condition as a building abandoned after the effective date of the statute”). Indeed, for most procedural legislation, the “evil” resulting from inefficient or suboptimal procedure would always occur wherever that previously existing procedure applied, regardless of when the litigation began. The third item is “whether there was any previously existing statute governing or limiting the mischief which the new legislation was intended to remedy.” *See Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d at 375 (quoting *Emmet County State Bank*, 439 N.W.2d at 654). Situations where brand new procedural rules are promulgated for a new type of action are probably very rare. But just like the “evil to be remedied” element, it would be routine to point to the shortcomings of any previously existing procedure and note that, until the present fix, there was nothing that effectively addressed that particular drawback. In any event, the strongest case for finding that procedural legislation is remedial might be made where it replaces a judicially created stopgap—just like section 822.3A replaces *Leonard*, *Gamble*, and *Jones* with actual rules for represented PCR litigants.

This discussion of the three-part test for remedial legislation illustrates why it makes little sense to apply that test to legislation that is better characterized as procedural: that rubric just does not fit.

The general rule for legislation that creates or alters procedural rules is much simpler and makes much more sense: “If before final decision a new law as to procedure is enacted and goes into effect, it must from that time govern and regulate the proceeding.” *See Bascom*, 1 N.W.2d at 221 (quoting *Lewis v. Penn. R. Co.*, 69 A.2d 821, 822 (Pa. 1908)); accord *Iowa Dept. of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Scott Cnty.*, 587 N.W.2d 781, 784 (Iowa 1998) (quoting 14 Uniform Laws Annotated *Model Statutory Construction Act* § 14 commentary at 405 (1990)) (“If a procedural statute is amended, the rule is that the amendment applies to pending proceedings as well as those instituted after the amendment.”). Section 822.3A is procedural—it defines “the formal steps by which a legal right is enforced” by a PCR applicant who has concurrent representation, “as distinguished from the [substantive] law which creates, defines and protects rights.” *See id.* at 221–22 (quoting *Duggan*, 180 N.E. at 302). Therefore, the PCR court was correct that it would apply in Hrbek’s already-pending PCR action, starting on July 1, 2019 (which is the default effective date of the law).

Hrbek’s constitutional challenge to section 822.3A is moot if he is right that it does not apply to these proceedings. This Court should only proceed onward if it finds that section 822.3A *does* apply.

II. Section 822.3A is a constitutional exercise of the legislature’s authority to enact procedural rules for litigation in Iowa district courts.

Preservation of Error

Most of Hrbek’s constitutional challenges were raised and argued in his resistance; those challenges were necessarily considered and rejected by the PCR court’s subsequent ruling that section 822.3A applies. *See* Resistance to Notice (7/24/19) at 2–6; App. 10–14; Order (8/25/19) at 2; App. 25. Error is preserved for those challenges.

The sole exception is the separation-of-powers challenge, which was not raised below. *See* Resistance to Notice (7/24/19); App. 9. This challenge “cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” *See Goosman v. State*, 764 N.W.2d 539, 545 (Iowa 2009).

Standard of Review

For the ruling that none of Hrbek’s challenges established that section 822.3A was unconstitutional, review is de novo. *See State v. Newton*, 929 N.W.2d 250, 254 (Iowa 2019).

Merits

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